Wednesday, 14 May 2025

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY SUB-BOARD

A meeting of Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board will be held on

Thursday, 22 May 2025

commencing at 3.30 pm

The meeting will be held in the Banking Hall, Castle Circus entrance on the left corner of the Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR

Members of the Committee

Councillor Johns (Chairwoman)

Councillor Tolchard (Vice-Chair)

Councillor Douglas-Dunbar

Councillor Fellows

Councillor Foster

A Healthy, Happy and Prosperous Torbay

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your <u>iPad</u> or <u>Android</u> <u>Device</u>. For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another format or language please contact:

Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY SUB-BOARD AGENDA

1. Apologies

2. Minutes (Pages 5 - 8)

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board held on 17 April 2025.

3. Declarations of Interest

a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of items on this agenda

For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.

b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on this agenda

For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter. A completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.

(**Please Note:** If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)

4. Urgent Items

To consider any other items that the Chairwoman decides are urgent.

5. Update on the Prevent and Modern Slavery Workstream
To review the work being carried out to prevent radicalisation,
exploitation and modern slavery for adults.

(Pages 9 - 14)

(Note: Members of the Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board have been invited for this item.)

6. Review of Women's Health in Torbay

(To Follow)

To review the outcomes from the Director of Public Health's Annual Report in relation to Women's Health in Torbay.

Key Lines of Enquiry:

- Is the Maternity Unit being closed? What maternity services are available within the community?
- What provision is there for access to sexual health and timely gynaecological help?
- Additional Maternal and neonatal mortality and morbidity rates for Torbay and how we compare to other areas?

7. Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board (Action Tracker

(Pages 15 - 16)

To receive an update on the implementation of the actions of the Sub-Board and consider any further actions required (as set out in the submitted action tracker).



Minutes of the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board

17 April 2025

-: Present :-

Councillor Johns (Chairwoman)

Councillors Douglas-Dunbar, Fellows and Foster and Tolchard (Vice-Chair)

Co-opted Member
Amanda Moss (Chair of Voluntary Sector Network)

(Also in attendance: Councillors Chris Lewis, David Thomas and Tranter)

38. Apologies

An apology for absence was received from Pat Harris (Non-voting Co-opted Member)

39. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting of the Sub-Board held on 19 February 2025 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairwoman.

40. Quality Assurance Annual report on care homes and nursing homes

The Divisional Director of Adult Social Care, gave a presentation, as circulated prior to the meeting, which provided an update on the Quality Assurance Annual Report on care homes and nursing homes.

Members were advised that Torbay Council has a duty to work with the individual care and nursing homes who require improvement to create an action plan and ensure support was provided as required.

Members raised the following questions:

- how the Council worked with care and nursing homes who required improvement;
- how many residents were discharged too quickly;
- what opportunities were there for training and career progression for staff working in care and nursing homes to progress to work for NHS;
- whether the Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings were publicly available on the Council website;

- what impact the increase in National Insurance contributions had had on care and nursing homes;
- whose responsibility was it to ensure residents were safeguarded when services such as hairdressers/chiropodists visited care and nursing homes;
- have discussions been held with the various care and nursing homes to ensure that they were provided with bins to allow for recycling;
- could any subsidies be provided by the Council to care and nursing homes to help young people who wish to join the care sector but were unable to drive, to assist them to learn to drive or travel to clients;
- details of any themes that had appeared relating to hospital discharge and readmissions rates;
- if any agencies were used to provide workforce to the various care and nursing homes:
- details of the inspection ratings process for care and nursing and the frequency of inspections; and
- details of how the Council monitors the number of residents from neighbouring authorities that use the various care and nursing homes in Torbay.

In response to the questions raised by Members, the Divisional Director of Adult Social Care responded as follows:

- The Council has a duty to work with individual care and nursing homes who
 require improvement to create an action plan and ensure support was provided
 as required.
- The Adult Social Care Team within Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust (Trust) had undertaken intensive work to ensure that the process for pathways for patients to return home were of a good standard. The Council was committed to ensuring that patients return home where possible and with the correct support instead of a short-term placement in a care or nursing home.
- There was not a training and career pathway for employees to work in care to progress working for the NHS. The CQC were responsible for ensuring that the care and nursing home providers make sure that their employees were sufficiently trained to enable adequate standards of care within the care and nursing home. There were training offers available that were unique to Torbay and providers could contact the Trust to take advantage of training available to ensure that the workforce across Torbay were trained with similar levels of competency.
- The CQC ratings for all care and nursing homes were available on the individual providers website.
- The Council and Trust work with the various care and nursing homes on an individual basis and any issues reported would be followed up and resolved.
- The National Insurance contribution increase was having an impact nationally on various types of businesses. The CQC, the Council and Trust had built

relationships with the various providers and would provide the best possible support within the available resource.

- The Adult Social Care Team were working with colleagues from various departments in the Council to review potential sites for supported housing sites within Torbay.
- It was the responsibility of the individual care and nursing homes to check that the individual service providers visiting their homes were adequately compliant for safeguarding reasons.
- It was the responsibility of the care and nursing home providers to organise for recycling collection through their commercial waste provider.
- There had been no concerns raised with the Council regarding issues of employing staff who wish to work in the care sector but could not drive. There were individual providers who assisted employees by providing a work car.
- The inspections were completed by the CQC every 2 years. However, there
 were some delayed inspections being completed due to a backlog within the
 CQC.
- The Council does not monitor how many care and nursing home providers work with neighbouring authorities as it was an open market. Members noted that Devon County Council would potentially commission services within Torbay and there had been occasions when Torbay Council commissioned services within Devon County Council's area.

Resolved (unanimously):

- 1. that the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board notes the Quality Assurance Annual report on care homes and nursing homes;
- 2. that the Director of Adult Social Care be requested to work with the Chairwoman, to write to Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust to request a written update on readmission rates and hospital discharge arrangements; and
- 3. that the Quality Assurance Annual report update be added to the Work Programme as an annual review.

41. Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Work Programme 2025/26

The Chairwoman presented the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Work Programme for the municipal year 2025/26 and Members noted that it had been devised with input from Overview and Scrutiny and Cabinet Members and Senior Officers. It was further noted that the Work Programme was designed to help shape how the meetings of the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board would operate, and the

Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Thursday, 17 April 2025

Work Programme would be flexible to accommodate additional topics that may require scrutinising throughout the year.

Resolved (unanimously):

- 1. that the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Work Programme set out in the submitted report be approved; and
- 2. that the Senior Democratic, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, in consultation with the Chairwoman and Vice-Chairwoman of the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board, be authorised to keep the Work Programme under regular review.

42. Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

The Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board noted the submitted action tracker.

Chairwoman

Agenda Item 5



Meeting: Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board – Adult Social Care and Health

Date: 22nd May 2025

Wards affected: ALL

Report Title: Update on the Prevent and Modern Slavery Workstream

When does the decision need to be implemented? n/a

Cabinet Member Contact Details: Cllr Hayley Tranter, Cabinet Member for Adult and Community Services, Public Health and Inequalities. Email: hayley.tranter@torbay.gov.uk

Director Contact Details: Anna Coles, Director of Adults and Community Services Email:

anna.coles@torbay.gov.uk

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Sub-Board with an update on the work being undertaken in Torbay with regards to Prevent, and Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking.

2. Background - Prevent

- 2.1 The <u>Prevent Duty</u> was established via the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 with the aim of stopping people from becoming terrorists or supporting terrorism. Prevent also extends to supporting the rehabilitation and disengagement of those already involved in terrorism.
- 2.2 It sits alongside long-established safeguarding duties on professionals to protect people from a range of other harms, such as substance abuse, involvement in gangs, and physical and sexual exploitation. The duty helps to ensure that people who are susceptible to radicalisation are supported as they would be under safeguarding processes.
- 2.3 As part of Prevent, we aim to:
 - Increase awareness of the signs of radicalisation
 - Intervene early to support people at risk of radicalisation
 - Tackle the ideological causes of terrorism. This will help people make informed choices.
 - Enable people who have already engaged in terrorism to disengage and rehabilitate.
 - Signpost parents, carers, family and friends to Prevent or other safeguarding services.
 - Encourage people to be safe online so that they are less exposed to harm.

- 2.4 The Local Authority is responsible for delivering Channel as part of Prevent. This is multiagency approach that aims to provide support and interventions to reduce the level of susceptibility of an individual (adult or young person) to be drawn into extremism or terrorism.
- 2.5 The governance for the delivery of Prevent in Torbay is via the Devon and Torbay Prevent Partnership with reporting into Safer Torbay Community Safety Partnership.
- 2.6 Delivery of Prevent and Channel is closely monitored by the Home Office through annual benchmarking and national reporting of quality and compliance.

3. Summary - Prevent

- 3.1 Some of the work delivered by the Prevent Partnership the following over the last 12 months has included:
 - A localised risk assessment has been produced and scrutiny of partnership selfassessment feedback to identify areas of improvement.
 - Review carried out into referrals numbers and processes for primary and secondary care.
 - Training Strategy has been updated.
 - Initiation of a Task and Finish group to look specifically at the low level of adult referrals into Channel.
 - Consideration of how problem-solving approaches work locally with guidance developed to support this process and ensure learning is fed into the partnership.
- 3.2 Home Office Benchmarking for Prevent found that the Local Authority has evidenced that it is exceeding requirements in the core benchmark areas of the multi-agency partnership group, risk assessment, delivery planning, referral pathway and training. Some areas of development were identified which are described in more detail below. Benchmarking for Channel did not take place this year however informal feedback from the Home Office local QA lead is that our Channel Panel is strong and working effectively. There is good engagement in the Torbay Channel by Adult Social Care and Mental Health services.
- 3.3 Referrals into Channel continue to be low for adults and young people in Torbay
- 3.4 Nationally following the Southport murders and subsequent rapid learning review the Home Office took steps to clarify existing policy in relation to Prevent. This included some interim policy changes introduced by CT Policing in relation to repeat referrals and referrals

categorised as 'fascination with extreme violence or mass casualty attacks'. The policy changes seek to reaffirm that individuals whose ideological motivations are unclear, mixed or unstable, but who demonstrate a connection to, or personal interest in, extremism, terrorism or massacre should be given the same consideration for support as those whose concerning ideological motivations are more consistent and obvious.

3.5 In addition, a national evaluation of the Channel process has been commissioned by the Home Office to establish effectiveness and identify any potential areas for improvement. All Channel Panels are participating, and it will involve seeking direct feedback from Channel participants. This may result in future changes to guidance.

4. Areas for development - Prevent

- 4.1 The Home Office Benchmarking exercise identified the following areas for development:
 - 4.1.1. Improve the clarity of our local problem-solving processes by mapping the links between operational groups and local structures to ensure information exchange around community tension issues and the Devon and Torbay Prevent Partnership.
 - 4.1.2 Complete a review on venue hire and IT policies as identified and give some consideration to how this can be linked into wider <u>Martyn's law</u> developments. This piece of work is underway however requires contribution from wider stakeholders within the Local Authority and community voluntary sector. Guidance is awaited regarding the implementation of Martyn's Law, which received Royal Assent in April.
 - 4.1.3 Develop a targeted approach to communications and engagement that reflect Torbay's priorities the scale of comms activity should be considered pragmatically against an understanding of the local risk and threat assessment.
 - 4.1.4 Seek to explore a mechanism for delivering face to face training to provide an evidence based enhanced offer to services identified as most in need. This will require additional resources and capacity which are currently not available; and again, a pragmatic approach is required considering this requirement against other statutory training priorities.
- 4.2 Linking with 4.1.1 above we need to consider how we better gauge community sentiment and emerging themes by sharing intelligence regarding community tensions and understanding local risk levels. With the current global and national political narrative there continues to be the potential for escalation of right wing, and anti-immigration sentiment including the potential radicalisation of susceptible individuals and the escalation/mobilisation of those already on a path of radicalisation. This has been seen most recently in relation to the summer 2024 protests/riots. Wider risks are noted in terms of impact on communities from hate crime, violence, public disorder and community tensions which all interconnects with the Prevent agenda.

- 4.2 As highlighted by the Prevent Partnership there are a consistently low number of Channel cases relating to adults which means there is a risk that susceptible adults are not being identified and referred into the Prevent process. National statistics for 2023-24 indicate that over 18s account for 43%, 41% and 31% of Prevent referrals, Channel Panel discussions, and Channel adoptions, respectively. Therefore, whilst under 18s account for the highest proportion of cases, the over 18 age group constitutes a sizeable cohort. From 2019/20 to 2023/24, a reduction has occurred in the annual proportion of Prevent referrals, Channel Panel discussions and Channel adoptions relating to adults over the age of 18 (2024, Improving PREVENT Adult Referral Rates Task & Finish Group Terms of Reference). Of the current open Prevent cases one was from a Local Authority referral (Children's Services). The T&F Group has been established to explore this issue further and make recommendations.
- 4.3 Counter terrorism policing is reporting an increase of referrals into Prevent over the last few months which is reported as more than a temporary response to Southport and interim policy amendments. This may result in an increase in referrals into Channel which could stretch capacity to manage the Channel process locally.

5. Background - Modern Slavery

- 5.1 The Modern Slavery Act 2015 introduced the powers that law enforcement agencies need to pursue, disrupt and bring to justice those engaged in human trafficking, slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour. It also introduced a range of measures to enhance support and protection for victims.
- 5.2 The Modern Slavery Statutory Guidance (Home Office, 2020) applies in England and Wales to public authorities with a duty to notify the Home Office when encountering a potential victim and those involved in the identification of and support for potential victims. These individuals and organisations must have regard to the Statutory Guidance, with a view to developing a more consistent response to modern slavery victims to ensure they are identified and receive the available and appropriate support.
- 5.3 Modern slavery encompasses human trafficking and slavery, servitude and forced or compulsory labour.
- The governance and primary delivery mechanism for work in this area is via the Devon and Cornwall Anti-Slavery Partnership (ASP). The Partnership provides multi-agency strategic direction and co-ordination in the response to modern slavery and human trafficking (MSHT) across the four local authority areas, with the strategic aim of ensuring modern slavery and human trafficking is considered as daily business.

6. Summary – Modern Slavery

- 6.1 The responsibilities of the Anti-Slavery Partnership (ASP) are to understand and share good practice working together with Children's Safeguarding Partnerships, Adult Safeguarding Boards and CSPs. It aims to develop a consistent approach to addressing MSHT across the peninsula and use local intelligence and learning from local operations to inform policy and practice.
- As a relatively new partnership the primary focus of the ASP over the last year has been to establish priority areas and key workstreams. This has including facilitating the sharing of good practice in relation to Modern Slavery Statements; stakeholder engagement and awareness raising of the partnership intelligence reporting portal; and reviewing and strengthening the Modern Slavery Adult Potential Victim Referral Pathway Protocol and MOU.
- 6.3 The Partnership is informed by the quarterly threat assessment produced by Devon and Cornwall Police. The most recent assessment highlighted the biggest threat continues to be sexual exploitation with increase in reports of labour exploitation (for example, working in nail bars and hospitality industry). Reports of exploitation within the care sector have reduced in last quarter whereas this was prevalent in the previous three months. It has been recommended that work continues to raise awareness of exploitation in the care sector with partners who may encounter potential victims of exploitation.
- 6.4 Torquay sector shows the largest volume of reports of MSHT in the last quarter (36 total), over half relate to sexual exploitation; the remainder are county lines, and small numbers relating to labour exploitation. Paignton and Brixton show similar patterns but with smaller numbers of reports (15 total).
- 6.5 Partners are encouraged to share intelligence through the D&C Police Community

 Partnership Intelligence portal. Further information on the portal can be found in this video.
- A requirement of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 is that organisations produce and publish a Modern Slavery Statement which demonstrates the steps they are taking to prevent modern slavery in their business and supply chains. The Statement for Torbay Cuncil has recently been reviewed and updated and is awaiting sign off. It has been broadened slightly from purely a procurement and supply chain focus to include some additional detail on the role the local authority plays in partnership to address modern slavery. Consideration needs to be given to the scope of the statement for the next annual review, and whether to widen it further as this document could act as the overarching corporate policy in future.
- On a regional basis SW ADASS are currently carrying out a review of how local authorities are responding to modern slavery which has included surveying all areas via questionnaire and holding focus groups. This has included sharing a maturity matrix and self-assessment template which, if adopted, could enable local authorities to benchmark against

each other across the region. The findings from this review will be used to inform regional and peninsula level work over the next year.

7. Areas for development – Modern Slavery

- 7.1 The Peninsula ASP is currently finalising the revised multiagency protocol and MOU so work will be required locally to ensure this is shared widely and adopted by all relevant stakeholders. This should include monitoring of implementation to provide assurance to the ASP that it has been adopted effectively.
- 7.2 Consideration of what activity is required following completion of the SW ADASS Review initial indications are that there needs to be a strengthening of strategic oversight within local authorities of local responses to modern slavery, with more active monitoring and assurance activity.
- 7.3 Consideration of utilising the self-assessment framework to provide additional local assurance and inform a local improvement plan. This would require a commitment of additional resources to coordinate and complete.
- 7.4 Work needs to continue to raise awareness of the indicators of modern slavery, the reporting process and increase partner intelligence submissions. In previous years, there have been campaigns delivered directly engaging with the hospitality industry and local businesses however resource constraints have meant these have not continued. These could be revisited if considered an area of focus.

8. Conclusions & recommendations

- 8.1 In both Prevent and Modern Slavery workstreams the key challenge is to ensure that there is a wide awareness amongst staff of their duty to report individuals at risk of radicalisation or exploitation. There is work underway to identify where improvements need to be made, and how we can work better together in partnership to respond effectively to current risks and get ahead of emerging issues.
- 8.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Sub Board are asked to consider the areas for development and ongoing reviews; and it is recommended that a follow up report is presented at a future meeting to update members on progress and provide more details on findings and recommendations from the wider partnership reviews once they are completed.

Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker

Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Action Tracker			
Date of meeting	Minute No.	Action	Comments
		that the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board notes the Quality Assurance Annual report on residential homes and nursing homes;	1. Complete
17/04/25	40	2. that the Director of Adult Social Care be requested to work with the Chairwoman, to write to Torbay and South Devon NHS Foundation Trust to request a written update on readmission rates and hospital discharge arrangements; and	2. In progress (Anna Coles)
ס		3. that the Quality Assurance Annual report update be added to the Work Programme as an annual review.	3. Complete
97/4/25 6 15	41	that the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board Work Programme set out in the submitted report be approved; and	1. Complete
		2. that the Senior Democratic, Overview and Scrutiny Officer, in consultation with the Chairwoman and Vice-Chairwoman of the Adult Social Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Sub-Board, be authorised to keep the Work Programme under regular review.	2. Complete
07/11/24	23	that the Divisional Director for Adult Services be requested to organise for an Employment and Skills Board representative to be invited to attend a future meeting with Domiciliary Care providers.	3. Awaiting update – chased response 09/04/25

This page is intentionally left blank